FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/11/2019 8:00 AM

97070-0

NO. 77136-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

KEVIN CALCOTE

Appellant/Plaintiff,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE

Respondents/Defendants,

AMENDED PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Cecilia Cordova, WSBA # 30095 Pacific Alliance Law, PLLC 1420 5th Avenue. Suite 2200 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 652-3592 Phone (206) 652-3205 Fax Attorneys for Appellant

A. INTRODUCTION

The Appeals Court upheld the Trial Court's dismissal of the disparate treatment claim for the period of January 22, 2012 through March 5, 2012. Both the Trial Court and the Court of Appeals stated that claims made for periods on or after January 22, 2012 are timely made, so timeliness is not a grounds for dismissing this claim. The Trial Court dismissed this disparate treatment claim based on a failure to state a prima facie case, stating: that Calcote "failed to raise a reasonable inference of unlawful discrimination." (TR 38)

The Appeals Court disagreed with the Trial Court's analysis and held that the Trial Court erred in requiring "real evidence that Calcote's treatment was different based on race." (App 23) Further, the Appeals Court used this reasoning to reverse the Trial Court's decision to dismiss disparate treatment claims, based on the denial of overtime opportunities, for periods in 2015. (App 23-24) Nonetheless, the Appeals Court failed to apply this reasoning to the period January 22, 2012 through March 5, 2012 (the "Period at Issue") and subsequently upheld the dismissal of all disparate treatment claims outside of 2015.

Plaintiff believes that applying the same legal test used by the Appeals Court, for the 2015 period to the Period at Issue, should result in a reversal of the dismissal of the disparate claim, based on the denial of overtime opportunities for the Period at Issue. It appears the Appeals Court may have overlooked or misapprehended the facts for the period at issue.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Plaintiff Kevin Calcote.

C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On January 22, 2019, The Court of Appeals, Division I, affirmed the trial court's dismissal in part, reversed in part, and remanded for further proceedings. (App 1-40) On March 11, 2019, the Court of Appeals denied Calcote's Motions to Publish and for Reconsideration. (App. 41).

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether plaintiff presented sufficient evidence establishing a prima facie case of disparate treatment and sufficient evidence that the proffered reason was pretext, for the denial of overtime opportunities from January 22, 2012-March 5, 2012, such that the motion for summary judgment should be denied? YES.

E. Statement of the Case

1. Calcote's Disparate Treatment 2012

It is undisputed that Calcote was the only Black Crew Chief in SDOT Paving (the "City"). (CP49-53,150, 155, 157, 596, 600, 601, 598, 844)

All asphalt, concrete and utility cut crew chiefs ("Paving Crew Chiefs") are similarly situated and can and do perform each others' work. (CP585-587, 815) Specifically, all Paving Crew Chiefs perform asphalt, utility cut and concrete work. (CP315) Utility Cut and Asphalt projects provided the majority of overtime opportunities for Paving Crew Chiefs, which opportunities were denied plaintiff. (CP262, 264, 343) Moreover, the utility cut projects were performed on weekends and were paid at doubletime. (CP816)

In June 2011, Munger became Calcote's manager until his transfer to PEMS March 6, 2012, then in 2015 when Calcote returns to Paving. (CP161, 209) "Lorie Munger supervised the Paving Crew Chiefs, including Calcote from approximately June 2011. (CP 585)

In 2011 and early 2012, while Calcote was in Paving, Munger instructed Marangon to give her concrete overtime projects to Francisco, the Utility Cut Crew Chief, to the Asphalt Crew Chief, Hoyos, or even to the out-of-class Crew Chief, Vanater, rather than to Calcote, the other concrete crew chief." (CP 585-586) From 2011-2015, Munger controlled

which crew chiefs worked overtime by project assignment. (CP 586, 766-767) Munger knew which projects would incur overtime by their location and type of project. (CP766-767) Under Munger's management in Paving, Calcote was not assigned projects with scheduled overtime and barely had enough work to keep his crew busy during regular work hours. (CP148-149)

In 2011, Calcote received emailed compliments and commendations from citizens, SDOT managers in other divisions, and in December 2011 from Peter Hahn, the SDOT Director. (CP290-299) The SDOT Director commented that SDOT did not receive a flood of compliments, so he forwarded the complimentary email of thanks, regarding Calcote's work, to SDOT managers. Id. Calcote's 2010, 2012 and 2013 performance evaluations, rated his performance as exceptional or fully performing. (CP243-247, 788-793, 794-798)

Twice in February 2012, Calcote met with Pratt, SDOT Director, to complain about the unfair treatment Calcote received from his managers, favoritism and discriminatory application of process and procedures, including for overtime. (CP606, 763) Calcote told Pratt that this is something he should look into and that Calcote could give him some more information. (CP 763) Pratt told Calcote he would look into it and follow up with Calcote, though Pratt never did. <u>Id</u>.

Instead of investigating Calcote's complaints, Pratt offered Calcote two jobs, both with little to no overtime opportunities. (CP 606) So, Calcote's access to overtime decreased significantly mid-2011, and then ceased altogether when he was transferred to PEMS March 6, 2012. (CP763)

After Calcote's second February 2012 meeting with Pratt, Calcote wrote a memo noting the complaints he attempted to discuss with Pratt, including unfair treatment by managers, being denied overtime on multiple occasions, even when he had funds to cover overtime in his budget, and not being considered for overtime to fill-in for a co-worker. (CP594, 606, 607, 776, 777) Calcote's notes from February 2012 state that the City did not fairly allocate overtime and Munger assigned projects based on her personal preference, which deprived Calcote of overtime wages. (CP144, 146-148)

2. Calcote Files Suit Against City for Employment Related Claims

On March 23, 2015, Calcote sued the City for various employment claims, including claims under the Washington Law Against Discrimination Act (WLAD), chapter 49.60 RCW, disparate treatment, hostile work environment and retaliation. (CP1, 11-12) In May 2017, the City moved for summary judgment on all claims made by Calcote. (CP154) Calcote's Response argued that "Munger ... withheld overtime

opportunities from Calcote in June 2011- March 2012, then again in 2015, but did not deprive the non-Black Crew Chiefs of the same. (CP527) The City moved to strike Rwamashongye's declaration. (CP799) The trial court dismissed all of Calcote's claims and excluded Rwamashongye's declaration in its entirety. (CP978-979)

3. Munger Removed from Managing Paving Department

By 2016, Rwamashongye managed overtime so that it was assigned more equally to the crew chiefs, which significantly increased Calcote's income. (CP 772, 813-814) Rwamashongye put all projects on one master schedule, you could see which Crew Chief was on what project and balance the work and overtime so it was shared between Crew Chiefs. (CP813-814) In 2016, there were over 2400 utility cut restoration work orders, dating back to 2012, that had still not been completed or done. (CP816) Munger had previously assigned the utility cut work exclusively to Francisco. (CP837) Under Rwamashongye, Calcote is now performing utility cut work and asphalt work. (CP837, 839) No specialized training is needed to perform utility cut work and Calcote regularly performs utility cut work. (CP558) The 2400 open utility work orders evidence utility cut work, dating back to 2012, that was available for Kevin and his crew to work and which would be paid for by the utilities, which is outside of SDOT's budget. (CP816, 836-837) It is estimated that the open utility cut

work could take up to six years to complete if one work order were completed every day, 365 days/year. (CP836-837)

4. Court of Appeals Reverses the Trial Court in Part (App 1)

Calcote raised the following issue in the Court of Appeals:
Whether Calcote established a prima facie case of Disparate Treatment
under Antonius v. King Cty., 153 Wn.2d 256, 273, 103 P.3d 729, 738

(2004), by producing evidence that SDOT treated non-Black crew chiefs
more favorably than Calcote, the only Black crew chief? (App 8)

The Court of Appeals held that any alleged adverse employment action must have occurred on or after January 22, 2012 to be timely. (App18) Further, to the extent Calcote's disparate treatment claim was based on the denial of overtime opportunities in 2011, then such claim was untimely. (App 18-19) However, the Court in its decision regarding disparate treatment denial of overtime opportunities, did not address the timely period of January 22, 2012 – March 5, 2012, while Calcote was working in Paving, but prior to Calcote's reassignment to PEMS.

To the extent that the disparate treatment claim is based on the City's alleged denial of overtime opportunities in 2015, the court held that because issues of material fact exist as to Calcote's disparate treatment claim, the trial court erred by dismissing that claim in its entirety. (App 1).

The Court agreed with Calcote that the trial court erred by dismissing Calcote's hostile work environment claim. (App 28) Further, the court noted that "Calcote's allegations of harassment center on Munger, who supervised Calcote in late 2011 and early 2012, before Calcote was reassigned to PEMS, and again after Calcote returned to Street Paving from PEMS in 2015. (App 28)

The Court of Appeals concluded that since the City only objected to parts of Rwamashongye's declaration then the trial court erred by striking his declaration in its entirety. (App 9, 21 n5, 23 n6, 24 n7)

F. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

1. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with decisions of the Court of Appeals and of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4)

Leaving the Court of Appeals decision as it now stands, would violate public policy as established in RCW 49.60.010, 49.60.030.

Disparate treatment "is the most easily understood type of discrimination" and occurs when the plaintiff is treated less favorably than similarly situated employees not in the protected class. Crownover v. State DOT, 165 Wn.App. 131, 265 P.3d 971 (Div. 3 2011), review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1030, 274 P.3d 374 (2012). This Court, the Court of Appeals and the federal courts have consistently applied this test. Blackburn v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 186 Wn.2d 250, 258, 375 P.3d 1076, 1080 (2016);

Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co., 162 Wn.2d 340, 354 n.7, 172 P.3d 688, 696 (2007); Alonso v. Qwest Commc'ns Co., 178 Wn.App. 734, 743, 315 P.3d 610, 615 (2013); Shokri v. Boeing Co., 311 F. Supp. 3d 1204, 1212 (W.D. Wash. 2018); Raytheon Co. v. Hernandez, 540 U.S. 44, 52, 124 S. Ct. 513, 519 (2003).

The Court of Appeals opinion affirming the trial court's dismissal of Calcote's disparate treatment claim to the extent that overtime opportunities were withheld from January 22, 2012-March 5, 2012 conflicts with the decisions of this court, the Court of Appeals and federal courts. It did so by overlooking the facts presented for the time period of January 22, 2012-March 5, 2012, as it related to the denial of overtime opportunities. It conflicted with these decisions by disregarding the presented evidence that Calcote was treated less favorably, with respect to overtime opportunities from January 22, 2012-March 5, 2012, than the other crew chiefs, none of whom are in the protected class. (CP585-587) While the opinion is unpublished, has no precedential value and is not binding on any court, nonetheless, as an unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals filed on or after March 1, 2013, it "may be cited as nonbinding authority, if identified as such by the citing party, and may be accorded such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate." <u>Karanjah v. Dep't</u> of Soc. & Health Servs., 199 Wn.App. 903, 912, 401 P.3d 381, 388

(2017); Wash. GR 14.1. Despite being an unpublished decision, the decision to dismiss Calcote's disparate treatment claim as it relates to the withholding of overtime opportunities from January 22, 2012 – March 5, 2012, is inconsistent and in conflict with other decisions of the Court of Appeals, of this Court, and with the Court of Appeal's own decision that the trial court erred in dismissing Calcote's disparate treatment claim for the denial of overtime opportunities in 2015. (App 25) This conflict is sufficient to warrant review of the Court of Appeals' decision under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2).

This case warrants review because the Court of Appeals' opinion negatively affects the public interest in eradicating race discrimination and failing to address nuanced racism is itself a suppression of civil rights.

RCW49.60.010. "The right to be free from discrimination because of race
... is recognized as and declared to be a civil right," and includes the right "to obtain and hold employment without discrimination. RCW49.60.030.

Furthermore, this case warrants review because disregarding disputed issues of fact injures the public policy underpinning the WLAD. "When interpreting WLAD, we are particularly mindful that "a plaintiff bringing a discrimination case in Washington assumes the role of a private attorney general, vindicating a policy of the highest priority."" Jin Zhu v. N. Cent. Educ. Serv. Dist.-ESD 171, 189 Wn.2d 607, 614, 404 P.3d 504,

508 (2017)(*citing* Marquis v. City of Spokane, 130 Wn.2d 97, 109, 922 P.2d 43 (1996)). WLAD's public policy of protecting freedom from race discrimination ensures "[t]he "right to obtain and hold employment without discrimination." RCW49.60.030(1)(a). The Court's failure to take notice of the withheld overtime opportunities from January 22, 2012 through March 5, 2012, undermines the public policy of eradicating race discrimination and inadvertently allows covert racism to persist.

2. Sufficient evidence to defeat Summary Judgment For Disparate Treatment

This court reviews summary judgment orders de novo. Mohr v. Grantham, 172 Wn.2d 844, 859, 262 P.3d 490 (2011). The court should have denied the motion for summary judgment for disparate treatment, because Calcote established a prima facie case of disparate treatment and presented evidence that "raised reasonable but competing inferences of both discrimination and nondiscrimination, [so] the trier of fact must determine the true motivation." Scrivener v. Clark Coll., 181 Wn.2d 439, 445, 334 P.3d 541, 545 (2014) (citing Rice v. Offshore Sys., Inc., 167 Wn. App. 77, 90, 272 P.3d 865 (2012).

Summary judgment is inappropriate "where the evidence creates reasonable but competing inferences of both discrimination and nondiscrimination, a factual question for the jury exists." Johnson v. Dep't

of Soc. & Health Servs., 80 Wn.App. 212, 229, 907 P.2d 1223, 1233 (1996).

"The requisite degree of proof necessary to establish a prima facie case ... is *minimal* and does not even need to rise to the level of a preponderance of the evidence." Fulton v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 169 Wn.App. 137, 152, 279 P.3d 500, 509 (2012) (quoting Wallis v. J.R. Simplot Co., 26 F.3d 885, 889 (9th Cir. 1994)).

Summary judgment is appropriate only when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact." <u>Id.</u>; CR 56(c). We consider all facts submitted and all reasonable inferences from those facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. <u>Fulton v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.</u>, 169 Wash. App. 137, 147, 279 P.3d 500, 506 (2012).

. "The nonmoving party must set forth specific facts to support its allegations and show a genuine issue of material fact." <u>Loeffelholz v.</u>

<u>Univ. of Wash.</u>, 175 Wn. 2d 264, 271, 285 P.3d 854, 857 (2012).

"[T]riable issues of fact exist if the record, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, presents enough circumstantial evidence to raise a reasonable inference of intentional discrimination." Hamilton v. Southland Christian Sch., Inc., 680 F.3d 1316, 1320 (11th Cir. 2012). "[C]omparative evidence of systematically more favorable treatment toward similarly situated employees not sharing the protected

characteristic," and "employing the McDonnell Douglas Corp. v.

Green, 411 U.S. 792, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668, 93 S. Ct. 1817 (1973) burdenallocating technique, [raises] an inference of illegal motive." Loyd v.

Phillips Bros., 25 F.3d 518, 522 (7th Cir. 1994). Here, the City's overtime policy and Munger's subjective assignment of projects evidences the City's systematic favorable treatment of the non-Black crew chiefs.

(CP585-587)

3. Prima Facie Case

Calcote established a prima facie case of disparate Treatment, following the analysis of the Court of Appeals and by offering evidence of the following: that (1) he is a member of a protected class;(2) that he suffered a tangible adverse employment action (a change in compensation is an adverse employment action)(3) that the action occurred under circumstances that raise a reasonable inference of unlawful discrimination and (4) that he was doing satisfactory work. Marin v. King Cty., 194 Wn.App. 795, 808, 378 P.3d 203, 211 (2016).

4. Member of Protected Class and Tangible Employment Action

As stated above, Calcote, the only Black Crew Chief, is a member of a protected class. (CP157) Calcote and the nonprotected employees were doing substantially the same work (CP585-587, 815) <u>Billings v.</u>

<u>Town of Steilacoom</u>, 2 Wn. App. 2d 1, 24, 408 P.3d 1123, 1135 (2017).

5. Adverse Employment Action Occurred Under Circumstances of Reasonable Inference of Unlawful Discrimination

For summary judgment purposes, Calcote has satisfied that the withholding of overtime from January 22, 2012 through March 6, 2012 occurred under circumstances inferring unlawful discrimination. McGinest v. GTE Serv Corp., 360 F.3d 1103, 1122 n. 17 (9th Cir. 2004); (CP585-587)

February 2012, Calcote wrote notes of being denied overtime on multiple occasions even when he had the funds in his budget, was not considered to fill in for a co-worker for overtime opportunities because overtime was not fairly distributed among Crew Chiefs. (CP210-211, 262, 264) The denial of overtime opportunities during this Period in Issue, is an adverse employment action, because it negatively impacts his compensation. Fonseca v. Sysco Food Servs. of Ariz., Inc., 374 F.3d 840, 847 (9th Cir. 2004).

Plaintiff need not show that protected status is the only factor or the main factor in the adverse employment action, or that "but for" the employee's protected status the adverse employment action would not have occurred. Mackay v. Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc., 127 Wn.2d 302, 898 P.2d 284 (1995); Kastanis v. Educational Employees Credit Union, 122 Wn.2d 483, 491, 859 P.2d 26 (1993), opinion amended on other

grounds, 122 Wn.2d 483, 865 P.2d 507 (1994). By denying him overtime opportunities, Calcote was treated less favorably in the terms or conditions of his employment than similarly situated, nonprotected employees. (CP585-587)

6. Doing Satisfactory Work

Nominal evidence is sufficient to satisfy the element of satisfactory performance: Calcote's self-assessment; his performance evaluations in 2010, 2012 and 2013 (CP 58-62, 243-247, 788-793, 794-798); and compliments and commendations from the community and SDOT managers, including the SDOT Director (CP290-299), are sufficient to satisfy this element. Vee v. SCS L.L.C., No. C06-5518 RBL, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 70397, at *23-24 (W.D. Wash. Sep. 24, 2007) (citing Aragon v. Republic Silver State Disposal Inc., 292 F.3d 654, 660 (9th Cir. 2002).

Calcote's positive Performance Reviews in prior and subsequent years are indicative that City managers' beliefs and assessments of Calcote's performance are contrary to and dispute the unfavorable 2011 Performance Review for purposes of showing pretext. Watson v.

Nationwide Ins. Co., 823 F.2d 360, 361-62 (9th Cir. 1987). It can be inferred from these reviews that Calcote's work was satisfactory during that time. Keck v. Collins, 184 Wn.2d 358, 370, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015).

7. Pretext

Washington courts recognize that racism often leaves no overt evidence, so the courts adopted the burden-shifting standard articulated by McDonnell Douglas to analyze discrimination cases arising under WLAD, Kastanis v. Educ. Emps. Credit Union, 122 Wn.2d 483, 490, 859 P.2d 26, 30 (1993); McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802, 93 S. Ct. 1817, 1824 (1973). The plaintiff has the initial burden of establishing a prima facie case of racial discrimination. McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802-803. The burden then shifts to the employer to articulate a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse employment action. Id. The burden then shifts back to the employee to show pretext. Id.

"An employee may satisfy the pretext prong by offering sufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact either (1) that the defendant's reason is pretextual or (2) that although the employer's stated reason is legitimate, discrimination nevertheless was a substantial factor motivating the employer." Scrivener, 181 Wn.2d at 446-47. "An employee need not produce direct evidence to show pretext; circumstantial and inferential evidence can be sufficient." Billings v. Town of

Steilacoom, 2 Wn.App. 2d 1, 24, 408 P.3d 1123, 1136 (2017). When there are competing inferences of discrimination in a case, then pretext is a

question for the trier of fact. <u>Fell v. Spokane Transit Auth.</u>, 128 Wn.2d 618, 642, 911 P.2d 1319, 1331 (1996).

Calcote has presented sufficient evidence for a trier of fact to find that the City's proffered reasons are pretext.

The City argued: some paving crew chiefs must work overtime, such as on arterials and under bus lines, which must be done on weekends and is scheduled overtime (CP156, 344); greater efficiencies were achieved by using the crews for overtime that perform the work during regular hours under the overtime policy in effect at all time relevant to this lawsuit (CP156-157, 327-328, 333); Calcote presented direct evidence of pretext. Ms. Marangon, the other concrete chief, stated that from 2011 to early 2012, then again in 2015, Munger required Ms. Marangon to offer available concrete overtime to the Hoyos, the asphalt crew chief or to Francisco, the utilities cut crew chief, rather than to Calcote, the other concrete crew chief. (CP 585-587) Munger even required Marangon to offer the concrete overtime to Vanater, a laborer, rather than to Calcote. (CP 585-587) This is evidence of pretext.

Under the overtime policy, out-of-class employees are ineligible for overtime when a regular employee is available and does not decline the overtime opportunity. (CP334) Offering overtime to Vanater, an out-of-class crew chief when Calcote was available and did not decline the

opportunity, evidences pretext. (CP585-587) The City argues that scheduled utility cut overtime, on arterials or trolley lines, must be done by utility cut crew and asphalt arterial overtime be performed by asphalt crew. (CP156-157, 175-176, 342-343)

Calcote's Answers to interrogatories state: the City of Seattle's policy and SDOT's protocol to disburse overtime equitably among employees of the same class, like crew chiefs, but the City's uneven overtime allocation from 2011-2014 deprived him of wages. Id.; (CP144, 146, 147, 148) These satisfy the pretext prong by creating a genuine issue of fact whether the overtime policy was the City's actual reason for the providing other crew chiefs with more overtime opportunities than Calcote. Scrivener, 181 Wn.2d at 447. (CP556-557)

The City argues that even if the overtime claims for 2012, while Calcote was in paving, are not time-barred, that Calcote admits asphalt crew chiefs had the first opportunity at asphalt overtime, concrete crew chiefs had first opportunity at concrete OT and Francisco as the utility cut crew chief had the first opportunity at utility cut overtime, under the overtime policy. (CP175-176, 344) However, Marangon's testimony that concrete overtime work was withheld from Calcote in 2012, raises "a genuine issue of material fact with respect to the legitimacy or bona fides

of the City's articulated reason for its overtime decisions. <u>Johnson</u>, 80 Wn.App. at 229. (CP585-587)

G. CONCLUSION

Calcote has presented sufficient evidence of his claims to survive summary judgment. <u>Haubry v. Snow</u>, 106 Wn.App. 666, 676, 31 P.3d 1186, 1192 (2001). The Petition for review should be granted.