FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/31/2019 11:49 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

CASE NO. 97070-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KEVIN CALCOTE,

Appellant,

VS.

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Respondent.

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER S. HOLMES
Seattle City Attorney
SARAH TILSTRA, WSBA #35706
MOLLY DAILY, WSBA #28360
Assistant City Attorneys
Seattle City Attorney's Office
701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2050
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 684-8200

Attorneys for Respondent

I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Kevin Calcote ("Mr. Calcote") never put any evidence into the record that he was denied overtime opportunities specifically between January 22 and March 5, 2012. Despite this evidentiary failure, he claims that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming summary judgment dismissal of his 2011 and 2012 disparate treatment claims for alleged denied overtime. The Court of Appeals did not err. Mr. Calcote's failure to support his claims with evidence, as well as his failure to offer any other justification for review of this issue, doom his petition. Respondent City of Seattle ("the City") respectfully requests that this Court deny review.

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUE FOR REVIEW

Was summary judgment on Mr. Calcote's claims of disparate treatment based on denied overtime between January 22, 2012 and March 5, 2012, properly granted when Mr. Calcote has offered no evidence that he was denied overtime during that specific six-week period?

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

A. Mr. Calcote's Work as a Paving Crew Chief

Mr. Calcote worked as a paving crew chief of a concrete crew for

¹ The City has limited the facts included in this section to those it believes relevant to the narrow issue Mr. Calcote seeks to have reviewed.

the Seattle Department of Transportation's ("SDOT") Street Maintenance Division ("SMD"). CP 2. SDOT's paving crews conduct maintenance and construction field projects on Seattle's streets and sidewalks. CP 342. Paving crews and crew chiefs sometimes must work overtime; for example, some work, such as on arterials, near schools, or under bus trolley lines, must be done on weekends, and is therefore overtime work. CP 343.

B. Mr. Calcote Moves to PEMS, Then Back to Paving

On approximately March 6, 2012, Mr. Calcote moved to SMD's Pavement and Engineering Management Section ("PEMS"), where he performed a different body of work. *See* CP 2, 10, 345. Because PEMS work could be completed within business hours, Mr. Calcote did not work any PEMS overtime. CP 511. In 2014, Mr. Calcote requested to be moved back into paving as a crew chief, and in April 2015, after he had substantially completed a significant PEMS project, he returned to paving and took over as crew chief for the one remaining concrete crew. *See* CP 512, 851-52, 882.

Mr. Calcote asserted that, when he returned to paving in 2015, he did receive some overtime, but did not have as much as two non-African American crew chiefs. CP 600-01. He claimed he began to get more overtime after a new manager came on board and distributed overtime

more evenly. CP 603.

C. Mr. Calcote's Tort Claim, Lawsuit, and Appeal

On December 18, 2014, Mr. Calcote filed a tort claim. CP 111-13. He filed this lawsuit on March 23, 2015, alleging disparate treatment, retaliation, harassment, wrongful withholding of wages, negligent supervision, and loss of reputation. CP 1-14. The City moved for summary judgment on all claims, and the trial court granted the City's motion on June 19, 2017. CP 978-79.

Mr. Calcote appealed the dismissal of his claims for disparate treatment, retaliation, and harassment.² *See* Appellant's Opening Brief at 1-2. His disparate treatment claim was based on the following alleged adverse actions: 1) his reassignment to PEMS, 2) the failure to reclassify his position while he was at PEMS, and 3) denial of overtime opportunities. Div. I Op. at 13. The Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment dismissal of claims based on the PEMS reassignment and the alleged failure to reclassify, and Mr. Calcote does not seek review on these issues. *Id.* at 13-18.

With respect to the denial of overtime opportunities, the Court of Appeals analyzed the claims dependent on the time period and

² He did not appeal the dismissal of his claims for wrongful withholding of wages, negligent supervision, and loss of reputation.

circumstances of the alleged denials. First, the Court of Appeals noted that the statute of limitations precluded disparate treatment claims based on actions that occurred before January 22, 2012. *Id.* at 18. The Court of Appeals accordingly held that "the trial court did not err by dismissing Calcote's disparate treatment claim to the extent it is based on denial of overtime opportunities in 2011." *Id.* at 19. Second, the Court of Appeals upheld dismissal of claims for lost overtime occurring while Mr. Calcote was at PEMS, finding that the City had produced a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the denial. *Id.* at 19-21. Third, the Court of Appeals found that disparate treatment claims based on denial of overtime after Mr. Calcote's return to street paving in 2015 could go forward, based on Mr. Calcote's assertions that when he first returned to paving in 2015 he was getting less overtime than some other crew chiefs, but that he began to get more after his new manager changed the overtime system.³ *Id.* at 21-25. The parties have not sought review of the Court of Appeals' holdings on PEMS overtime and 2015 overtime.

Mr. Calcote filed a motion for reconsideration on one issue: whether there was a genuine issue of material fact as to whether he was

-

³ The Court of Appeals also reversed the summary judgment dismissal of Mr. Calcote's harassment claim, and affirmed the summary judgment dismissal of his retaliation claim. Div. I Op. at 25-40. Neither of those claims are at issue in this petition for review.

unlawfully denied overtime opportunities from January 22, 2012, until March 5, 2012, when he moved to PEMS. At the Court of Appeals' request, the City filed a response brief. The Court of Appeals denied the motion for reconsideration, and Mr. Calcote now seeks review on this sole issue.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Statute of Limitations Bars Claims for Overtime Denied Prior to January 22, 2012.

The statute of limitations for discrimination claims under WLAD is three years. *Antonius v. King County*, 153 Wn.2d 256, 261-62, 103 P.3d 729 (2004). Mr. Calcote filed his complaint on March 23, 2015. CP 1. Because the tort claim tolled the limitations period for sixty days (*Castro v. Stanwood School Dist.*, 151 Wn.2d 221, 226, 86 P.3d 1166 (2004)), Mr. Calcote's disparate treatment claim must arise from actions occurring on or after January 22, 2012: three years and sixty days before he filed his complaint. The Court of Appeals correctly held that any claims for overtime denied prior to January 22, 2012, are time-barred, and Mr. Calcote does not dispute this holding.

B. Mr. Calcote Has Not Pointed to Any Evidence He Was Denied Overtime Opportunities During the Specific January 22-March 5, 2012 Time Period.

Mr. Calcote claims that the Court of Appeals erred by not

reversing summary judgment for overtime allegedly denied between

January 22 and March 5, 2012. But Mr. Calcote never put any evidence into the record that the overtime opportunities he claims he was denied before he moved to PEMS occurred during the specific time period from January 22, 2012, through March 5, 2012, instead of during the earlier, time-barred period. In fact, while he stated in a declaration that he received less overtime than other crew chiefs when he first returned from PEMS in 2015 (CP 601), the record does not contain any such statement from Mr. Calcote with respect to the January 22 through March 5, 2012 period. Despite this evidentiary deficit, Mr. Calcote now asks this Court to accept review of this issue. Mr. Calcote has presented no compelling reason for this Court to do so, and his petition should be denied.

Mr. Calcote attempts to remedy this evidentiary omission by citing to several documents that he believes support his claim that he was denied overtime between January 22, 2012 and March 5, 2012. However, none of these documents provide evidence that denials occurred during this specific time period.

First, Mr. Calcote cites to the declaration of one of his fellow crew chiefs, Melissa Marangon, who stated that "[i]n 2011 and early 2012, Lorie would assign overtime related to my concrete projects to Jaime Francisco, the utility cut crew chief, or to the asphalt crew chief, Steve

Hoyos, instead of giving the overtime to Kevin, the other concrete crew chief." CP 585. However, Ms. Marangon's declaration does not contain any statement that Mr. Calcote was passed over for any overtime in the specific time period at issue: January 22 through March 5, 2012. It would be pure speculation to assume that there were specific overtime opportunities in this time period (as opposed to earlier in 2012) that Mr.Calcote was unlawfully denied. A party opposing summary judgment "may not rely on speculation, argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain, or in having its affidavits considered at face value." *Seven Gables Corp. v. MGM/UA Entertainment Co.*, 106 Wn.2d 1, 13, 721 P.2d 1 (1986).

Second, Mr. Calcote cites to his interrogatory responses (CP 144, 146-48) and to materials he submitted to SDOT management in 2014 (CP 210-11, 262, 264) to support his claim of lost overtime between January 22 and March 5, 2012. Pet. for Rev. ("PFR") at 5, 14, 18. Again, these documents do not provide evidence that overtime opportunities were denied during the specific six-week period at issue. Mr. Calcote's interrogatory responses state only generally that he was denied overtime (CP 144) and that overtime was distributed unfairly from 2011 through 2014. CP 147, 148. Similarly, Mr. Calcote's documents submitted to management in 2014 assert only that Mr. Calcote was denied overtime and

that overtime was not distributed fairly (CP 210-11, 262, 264); the documents do not specify that these denials occurred between January 22 and March 5, 2012.⁴

Notably, the City raised this limitations period issue in its

Response Brief on appeal. *See* Amended Brief of Respondent at 40-41

(disparate treatment claim based on pre-PEMS overtime time-barred, as

Mr. Calcote "has not shown he was denied any paving overtime between

January 22, 2012, and the PEMS move."). Yet Mr. Calcote failed to point to any competent evidence to dispute this point in his reply brief, nor did he otherwise address the argument. That is because no such evidence exists. The Court of Appeals' decision, therefore, was not in error.

C. Mr. Calcote Does Not Show How RAP 13.4's Requirements Are Met.

Mr. Calcote also argues that this Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' decision in this matter conflicts with other Court of Appeals decisions and decisions of this Court, and because issues of public interest are involved.

⁴ Mr. Calcote also cites to a portion of his summary judgment opposition brief (CP 527) for the proposition that Lorie Munger denied him overtime opportunities from June 2011 until March 2012. PFR at 6. The declaration paragraphs cited in support of this proposition, however, do not contain any evidence to support a claim that these denials occurred between January 22, 2012, and March 5, 2012.

But Mr. Calcote does not explain how this is so. He cites to several cases for the proposition that disparate treatment occurs when an employee is treated less favorably than similarly-situated employees not in the protected class. PFR at 8-9. He argues that the Court of Appeals' decision here conflicts with those cases because in this case the Court of Appeals disregarded evidence that he was treated less favorably than others during the January 22-March 5 time period. However, none of the cases cited by Mr. Calcote stand for the proposition that a plaintiff can survive summary judgment on a disparate treatment claim without specific evidence that the allegedly adverse actions occurred within the statutory limitations period. The Court of Appeals' opinion, therefore, does not conflict with existing case law.

Mr. Calcote also appears to invoke RAP 13.4(b)(4) by claiming that the Court of Appeals' decision negatively impacts the public interest in eradicating race discrimination. PFR at 10. Again, he does not show how dismissal of a disparate treatment claim for which a plaintiff has not produced sufficient evidence that an actionable adverse event occurred within the limitations period violates any public interest. Moreover, while the City does not dispute that unlawful discrimination is a matter of state concern (*see* RCW 49.60.010), the fact that the Court of Appeals ruled against a Washington Law Against Discrimination ("WLAD") plaintiff on

an issue cannot, in itself, be sufficient to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4); otherwise, any losing WLAD plaintiff would meet the standard for review by this Court, regardless of the nature of the issue. Mr. Calcote has not demonstrated that this Court should accept review.

V. CONCLUSION

The lack of evidence of denied overtime during the January 22 through March 5, 2012 time period precludes Mr. Calcote's disparate treatment claim on this issue. For all of the foregoing reasons, review should be denied.